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The River Ouse: Towpaths, Wharves and Herbage. 

 

 

Introduction 

The River Ouse in East Sussex is a key line of communication within South Downs National Park 
(SDNP). It is an unnatural and engineered line of communication that has been subject of several 
Acts of Parliament since 1791. This paper explores some of those Acts and their relevance to present 
day access. 

The locality examined runs from the outskirts of Lewes to the outskirts of Newhaven.  

The Navigation Acts 1791 and 1800 

In 1791 an Act entitled “An Act for Improving the Navigation of the River Ouse between Newhaven 
Bridge and Lewes Bridge in the County of Sussex and for the Better Draining of the Low Lands, lying 
in Lewes and Laughton Levels, in the said County” was passed.  

This provided for the pre-existing public right of navigation to be improved. The Act did not create a 
right of navigation. The preamble of the Act states that the Ouse was already in use by small barges. 
The purpose of the Act was to facilitate improvements to the navigation so that vessels with a draft 
of up to four feet could use the river at “common neap tides”. 

The Act provides trustees with a wide range of powers to construct banks and towpaths on both 
sides of the river. On completion of the works the trustees are authorised to levy tolls on some 
vessels using the navigation.  

Express terms are used to facilitate the creation of a towpath on both sides of the river: 
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A further Navigation Act was passed in 1800 which infers that a section of towing path had not been 
completed between Southerham Corner and Stock – Ferry. The Act directed the Trustees to 
complete this work: 

 

 

Southease Inclosure Award 1844 

This award affected a stretch of towpath on the West bank of the river running Southwards from the 
swing bridge at Southease. The Award sets out a “Private Carriage Road and Drift Way” as road 
number 2. This is specified as being 30ft wide and is for the use as a wharf by all the inhabitants of 
Southease and Rodmell. The same are also awarded a right of “Road, Driftway and Wharfeage” to 
access the wharf by means of roads numbers 1 and 2 on the plan. The herbage of the wharf (i.e. the 
grass) is vested in the Parish Clerk of Southease. This was a valuable commodity at the time. Road 
number 2 can be identified on the plan: 
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Turnpike Toll 

The A27 running from Lewes to Polegate used to be a Turnpike Road. A Turnpike Act of 1819 
provides that horses and “other cattle” used for towing on the River Ouse were to be exempted 
from tolls: 

 

 

Denton Island 

In the 1860’s a new cut was formed which created Denton Island. The plans for this depict the 
“Towing Path” on the East bank of the river: 
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The Harbour in 1878 
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Railway Plans: North Quay 

In the late 1890’s the London, Brighton and South Coast Railway (LBSCR) developed North Quay as 
part of a programme of improvements. As part of the development a section of towpath on the East 
bank of the river was stopped up. This statutory process required application to Quarter Sessions 
and the associated deposition of plans which followed thorough surveys.  As part of this 
development the LBSCR created Newhaven FP 24, together with its rail crossing.  

The reference to the towing paths as “rights of way” suggests a higher status than that of “footpath” 
which is used to identify other routes to be stopped up or created.  
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Ordnance Survey 

OS 6” 1890 
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OS 1:2500 1947 
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Defintive Map Survey  

When Newhaven FP 24 was surveyed for Defintive Map purposes in the 1950’s, the County Surveyor 
found that the East bank of the Ouse was a towing path which was furnished with swing gates:
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Discussion 

The starting point for considering access along the River Ouse, towing paths and routes contiguous 
with those, must be the maxim of once a highway always a highway.  

A navigable river is a highway and a public path or road leading to it is not a cul-de-sac. The path in 
question (i.e. Newhaven FP 24) must be considered in the context of its continuation along the river. 

A brief assessment of Newhaven FP 24 reveals that it was contiguous with a gated towpath and that 
it was the only convenient path serving allotments. This begs the question of why stiles would be 
used when they would obstruct access to the allotments (wheelbarrows) and how did horses access 
the towpath?  

The towpath gates have been replaced with stiles and fencing which extends onto the foreshore of 
the tidal river. The circumstances in which this can be lawfully authorised are narrow. Expiration of 
time cannot correct the unlawful use of stiles. 

The ownership of the riverbanks is given some clarity by examining the history of the navigation. The 
foreshore/riverbed is owned by the Crown, the riverbanks/towpath rest on subsoil which is 
presumably owned by the adjacent landowner. The riverbank above that is owned by the 
Environment Agency (having taken it over from the River Board) to the extent of the definitive 
footpath. The definitive footpath is vested in the Highway Authority.  
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SDLAF has had cause to consider access along and contiguous with the River Ouse on several 
occasions and it is likely to revisit this in the future. The findings of this paper suggest that access 
along the Ouse is worse now than it was a century ago. The value of historical records is that they 
offer a powerful tool to aid the re-establishment of public access. The potential for this can be 
realised for less financial cost than creating “new” access that simply overlays that which already 
exists but which is misrepresented by the Definitive Record. 
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